2003

Wendy Sullivan v. Mark Allen Sullivan : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This appeal is from a final order of the Second District Court denying Mr. Sullivan's motion to set aside an order dismissing Ms. Sullivan's divorce complaint filed on September 26, 2002 (Case No. 024701693 DA) (hereinafter the "First Complaint"), refusing to consolidate the case with Ms. Sullivan's later-filed divorce action (Case No. 034700173 DA)(hereinafter the "Second Complaint"), and finding that the Court had jurisdiction pursuant to the Utah Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act in Case No. 034700173 DA to determine custody issues. The original order was entered on September 22, 2003, and an amended order was entered on October 28, 2003. This court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. Sec. 78-2a-3(2)(h) and Rule 3(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Did the trial court err in dismissing Ms. Sullivan's First Complaint and allowing her to proceed under her Second Complaint when the jurisdiction under the UCCJEA was determined at the time of filing of the First Complaint?

Standard of Review: The propriety of a motion to dismiss is a question of law and is reviewed for correctness, giving no deference to the decision of the trial

court. *Krouse v. Bower*, 2001 UT 28, ¶ 2, 20 P.3d 895.

Issue Preserved: Record p.118, interior pages 3 (lines 9 through 21), 4 (lines 2 through 7), 6 (lines 6 through 22), 7 (lines 8 through 12), 9 (lines 20 through 25), and 10 (lines 1 through 9).

2. Did Mr. Sullivan file his action in Illinois in a timely manner?

Standard of Review: The appellate court gives no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions and reviews them for correctness. *Smith Inv. Co. v. Sandy City*, 958 P.2d 245, 251 (Utah Ct. App. 1998).

Issue Preserved: Record, p. 188, interior page 4 (lines 2 through 24) and interior page 15 (lines 15 through 20); Record pages 257 and 258.

3. Did the trial court err in finding that Ms. Sullivan did not act surreptitiously or wrongfully by taking the parties' children from the State of Illinois under false pretenses, and in not declining jurisdiction by reason of her conduct?

Standard of Review: Issues which involve application of statutory law to the facts present mixed questions of fact and law. Factual findings are reviewed for clear error and conclusions of law are reviewed for correctness, giving the trial court some discretion in applying the law to the facts. *In re G.B.*, 2002 UT App

270, ¶11, 53 P.3d 963.

Issue Preserved: Record, p. 188, interior pages 8 and 9; Record, p. 256 and 257.

PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES AND RULES

1. Rules 41(a)(2)(ii) and 42, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure; U.C.A. § 78-45c-208.

2. Utah Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act (UCCJEA), §§ 78-45c-102(7), 201(1)(a through (d), and other applicable sections; Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction Act (IUCCJA), Illinois Revised Statutes, 750-5/601, *et seq.*, and 750-35/1, *et seq.*; Parental Kidnaping Prevention Act (PKPA), 11 U.S.C. § 1738A (c).

3. U.C.A. § 78-45c-110(1).

4. U.C.A. § 78-45c-208.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The parties were married in August 1995 in Albuquerque, New Mexico, and have a son, Brett, born on April 2, 1996, and a daughter, Sydney, born on July 18, 1997. The parties moved to Illinois in December 1999 and were living in Thompsonville, Illinois, in June, 2002. On or about June 26, 2002, Ms. Sullivan

took the children with her to Idaho on the pretext that she was going to visit her family. She then took the children to Utah and filed her First Complaint for divorce on September 26, 2002. Mr. Sullivan was served with the First Complaint on or about November 27, 2002, and filed an answer on December 27, 2002, contesting the Utah court's jurisdiction and asserting that Illinois had jurisdiction as the home state pursuant to the UCCJEA, since the children had lived in Illinois for more than six months before Ms. Sullivan left the State. Mr. Sullivan thereafter filed a custody proceeding in Illinois on April 7, 2003. In the interim, Ms. Sullivan filed the Second Complaint in Utah on January 28, 2003, claiming that she had been in Utah for six months and that Utah now qualified as the home state. When Mr. Sullivan moved to consolidate the two divorce proceedings under the earlier filed case, Ms. Sullivan objected and moved to dismiss her first complaint. The Utah trial court mistakenly dismissed the Ms. Sullivan's first complaint before the time for briefing had elapsed. Following a hearing, however, the Court allowed the dismissal to stand, found that Mr. Sullivan had waited too long to file his complaint in Illinois, and found the Utah had jurisdiction over the matter. Mr. Sullivan appeals from the dismissal of Ms. Sullivan's First Complaint and the trial court's holding that Utah had jurisdiction under the UCCJEA.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. The parties were married on August 26, 1995, in New Mexico, and have two minor children, Brett Sullivan, age 8, and Sydney Sullivan, age 6. The parties and their minor children resided in Illinois between December 1999 and July 2002. Record, pp. 201 and 202, paragraphs 2 and 5;

2. On or about June 20, 2002, Ms. Sullivan surreptitiously left Illinois with the children, claiming that she was going to Idaho to attend a family reunion and that she would return to Illinois. She thereafter went to Utah. Record. pp. 119.

3. Ms. Sullivan claimed repeatedly that she was only visiting Utah temporarily. Mr. Sullivan thought her stay in Utah was temporary and that she would return to Illinois. Mr. Sullivan Record, p. 224; p. 119, p. 188, interior page 6, lines 12 through 15.

4. Ms. Sullivan filed her First Complaint for divorce in the Second District Court, Farmington Department, on September 26, 2002, Civil No. 024701693 DA. Record, p. 201-212.

5. Mr. Sullivan was served with the First Complaint in Illinois on November 27, 2002. Record, p. 222. He filed an answer on December 27, 2002 (hereinafter the “First Answer”) disputing the Utah court’s jurisdiction and

requesting that all proceedings relating to custody of the minor children be referred to the Circuit Court of Hamilton County, Illinois, in McLeansboro, Illinois. Record, p. 223-226.

6. Ms. Sullivan filed her Second Complaint on January 28, 2003, Civil No. 034700173. Record, pp. 1-5. The Second Complaint was served on Mr. Sullivan on March 19, 2003. Record, p. 9.

7. Mr. Sullivan filed a Petition for Child Custody on April 7, 2003, in the Second Judicial Circuit Court for Hamilton County, Illinois, case number 03-F-5. Record, pp. 112-116; pp. 245-252.

8. Mr. Sullivan filed an Answer to the Petitioner's Second Complaint on April 22, 2003 (hereinafter "the Second Answer"). Record, pp. 117-120. At the same time, he also filed a Motion to Consolidate the two divorce actions under the earlier-filed civil number pursuant to Rule 42 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and Rule 4-107 of the Utah Rules of Judicial Administration (now part of Rule 42), or in the alternative to dismiss the later-filed complaint. Record, pp. 232-233.

9. On or about April 29, 2003, Ms. Sullivan filed a motion to dismiss the First Complaint and her objection to Mr. Sullivan's motion to consolidate. Record, pp 234-237.

10. On or about May 2, 2003, Ms. Sullivan submitted to the jurisdiction of the Illinois court by filing her general appearance and answer in case number 03-F-5. Record, p. 194.

11. On May 15, 2003, the Utah trial court prematurely entered an order dismissing Ms. Sullivan's First Complaint (hereinafter "the Dismissal Order"). Record, p. 253. The trial court later concluded that the Dismissal Order was untimely. *See* Amended Order Denying Respondent's Motion to Set Aside Order Dismissing Petitioner's Complaint (hereinafter "the Amended Order of Denial"). Record, p. 146, paragraph 3.

12. On May 28, 2003, Mr. Sullivan filed a motion to set aside the Dismissal Order with a supporting memorandum. Record, pp. 259-267.

13. A hearing was held on August 7, 2003, before the Honorable Darwin C. Hansen on Mr. Sullivan's motion to set aside the Dismissal Order and motion to consolidate Ms. Sullivan's two divorce cases. Record, p. 273 and p. 188 (transcript). At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Hansen declined to set aside the Dismissal Order because he found that Mr. Sullivan had not taken steps to proceed in Illinois within six months of Ms. Sullivan leaving Illinois. Judge Hansen found that the Utah court had jurisdiction of the custody issues relating to

the parties' minor children. Record, page 146, paragraphs 1, 2, and 3; p. 188, interior page 19.

14. The Utah court entered its Order Denying Respondent's Motion to Set Aside Order Dismissing Petitioner's Complaint on September 22, 2003. Record, p. 277. Mr. Sullivan's Notice of Appeal was filed on October 22, 2003. Record, p. 148. An Amended Order Denying Respondent's Motion to Set Aside Order Dismissing Petitioner's Complaint was entered on October 28, 2003. Record, p. 145.

15. On December 30, 2003, Mr. Sullivan filed an Emergency Petition for Temporary Child Custody in Hamilton County, Illinois. Record, p. 163. On December 31, 2003, The Illinois court, Honorable Barry L. Vaughan presiding, issued an Order for Temporary Child Custody finding that Illinois was the home state of the parties' minor children at the commencement of Ms. Sullivan's divorce action in September 2002, and that the Utah court had erred in not staying its proceeding and in not communicating with the Illinois court upon learning that Mr. Sullivan had a pending Illinois custody action. The Illinois court awarded Mr. Sullivan temporary custody pending further proceedings. Record, pp. 170 and 171. The Illinois court entered a preliminary injunction on January 5, 2004, but

changed its position after a telephone conference with Judge Hansen on January 8, 2004, and entered an order vacating the preliminary injunction. Record, pp. 172-174.

16. Certain Illinois court documents are not part of the Utah court file, but may be important for the Court to consider in this action and are therefore filed with the Addendum to this Brief. They include the Partial Transcript of Videotaped Telephone Conference of Judge Hansen's and Judge Vaughan's conversation on January 8, 2004, and the Rule 23 Order of the Appellate Court of Illinois, Fifth District, entered on May 21, 2004, affirming Judge Vaughan's order setting aside the preliminary injunction. The Illinois Appellate Court held that the Illinois action was effectively stayed pending this Court's decision on Mr. Sullivan's appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in allowing Ms. Sullivan to proceed with her Second Complaint when her First Complaint did not establish home state jurisdiction under the UCCJEA. She was not entitled to commence her case again to cure the jurisdictional deficiency. The trial court should have consolidated the First Complaint and Second Complaint or dismissed the Second Complaint as a

duplication of the first. Mr. Sullivan actively contested jurisdiction in the Utah court and requested that jurisdictional issues be referred to the Illinois court. The Utah court made no determination about jurisdiction until after the Illinois proceeding was filed.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Erred in Dismissing Ms. Sullivan’s First Complaint and in Allowing Her to Proceed With Her Second Complaint.

A. Utah Does Not Have Jurisdiction Under the UCCJEA.

When Ms. Sullivan filed her First Complaint on September 26, 2002, she and the parties’ children had been in Utah for less than three months. Pursuant to U.C.A. § 78-45c-201(1)(a), “a court of this state has jurisdiction to make an initial child custody determination only if this state is the home state of the child on the date of the commencement of the proceeding. . . .” [Emphasis added]. “Home state” is defined in § 78-45c-102(7) as “the state in which a child lived with a parent or a person acting as a parent for at least six consecutive months immediately before the commencement of a child custody proceeding.” Both Ms. Sullivan and the Utah trial court acknowledged that the Utah court did not have jurisdiction of the First Complaint under the UCCJEA. Illinois, where the parties and their children had lived for almost three years, where Mr. Sullivan continued

to reside, where the children had a significant connection, and where there was substantial evidence about the children's care, schooling and relationships, was the children's home state.

Rather than defer to the jurisdiction of Illinois, Ms. Sullivan attempted to bootstrap jurisdiction by filing a Second Complaint on January 28, 2003, purportedly beyond the six-month time period, and by then moving to dismiss the First Complaint. The Utah court committed error in dismissing the First Complaint and by allowing Ms. Sullivan to have a second bite at the apple. The Court should have consolidated the two actions under the earlier-filed pleading, or **dismissed** the Second Complaint as duplicative. Section 78-45c-201(1)(a) very clearly **allows** a Utah court to make an initial custody determination **only if** Utah is the home state **when the proceeding is commenced**.

B. The Trial Court Should Have Consolidated the Two Divorce Cases or Dismissed the Duplicative Second Complaint.

Mr. Sullivan filed a timely motion under Rule 42 of the Utah Rules of Judicial Administration and then Rule 4-107 of the Code of Judicial Administration to consolidate Ms. Sullivan's two divorce cases under the earlier-filed case number, or in the alternative to dismiss the Second Complaint. Ms. Sullivan objected to consolidation or dismissal of the Second Complaint, claiming

that she would be prejudiced by such action. However, Mr. Sullivan is the party prejudiced by the trial court's failure to consolidate the two cases. Clearly Ms. Sullivan was attempting to manipulate jurisdiction under the UCCJEA by trying to commence her action again, after failing to meet UCCJEA jurisdictional requirements with her First Complaint. She was not in a position to object to consolidation. In *Raggenbuck v. Suhrmann*, 325 P.2d 258 (Utah 1958), the court upheld a trial court's order to consolidate eleven food poisoning cases, finding that the order "did not violate any constitutional or statutory provision," and was not prejudicial to the defendants. *Id.* at 259-260. In the present situation, Ms. Sullivan prejudiced herself by filing her First Complaint when Utah was not the children's home state. The Second Complaint does not remedy Ms. Sullivan's failure to establish jurisdiction under the UCCJEA because the trial court must look to the date the proceeding was originally commenced by the First Complaint.

II. Mr. Sullivan Filed His Custody Action in a Timely Manner.

A. Mr. Sullivan's Delay in Filing in Illinois Does Not Give Utah Jurisdiction or Deprive Illinois of Jurisdiction.

Mr. Sullivan filed his custody action in Illinois on April 7, 2003. He had previously contested jurisdiction of Ms. Sullivan's First and Second Complaints and had asserted that Illinois was the children's home state. At the time the Utah

court held its August 7, 2003, hearing on Mr. Sullivan's motion to set aside the dismissal of Ms. Sullivan's First Complaint, the Utah court had been made aware of Mr. Sullivan's pending Illinois action. Even if the Utah court believed Mr. Sullivan filed beyond the 6-month period under U.C.A. § 78-45c-201(1)(a), it should have found under § 78-45c-201(1)(b) that Utah was not the home state and that Illinois was the more appropriate forum because the children had a significant connection with Illinois and substantial evidence was available in Illinois regarding the children's care, protection, training, and personal relationships.

In *In re Custody of Bozarth*, 538 N.E.2d 785 (Ill. App.2 Dist. 1989), the Illinois Appellate Court considered a situation where an Illinois resident failed to object to a Washington court's exercise of jurisdiction under the UCCJA. The Illinois appellate court overturned the lower court's deferral to the Washington court and held as follows:

"A contestant's failure to act does not vest an inappropriate court with jurisdiction, nor does the fact that one court has succeeded in issuing a custody order sooner than another court endow it with jurisdiction if it does not meet the requirements of the Act. In short, McKerr's failure to object to the paternity action in Washington and that court's haste in issuing an unsupported custody order sooner than another court endow it with jurisdiction if it does not meet the requirements of the Act." *Id.* at 792.

In the present case, even if Mr. Sullivan were considered slow to act in filing his

custody action in Illinois, the Illinois court has a superior claim to jurisdiction because Utah did not have jurisdiction when Ms. Sullivan filed her First Complaint and the children's established residence was in Illinois. If neither state could be considered the home state, the other factors under § 78-45c-201(1)(b) favored Illinois as the state with the closest ties to the children.

B. Ms. Sullivan's Temporary Absence from Illinois Should Have Been Included in Calculating the Six-Month Period of Residence in Illinois.

Ms. Sullivan told Mr. Sullivan repeatedly that she was only visiting Utah temporarily and that she was planning to return with the children to Illinois. Under the UCCJEA, § 78-45c-102(7), a period of temporary absence is part of the six-month period. Therefore, any periods of time during which the children were temporarily absent from Illinois, based on representations that Ms. Sullivan was planning to return with them to Illinois, are added to and extend the six-month period of time. In the case *In re Marriage of Richardson*, 625 N.E.2d 1122 (Ill. App. 3 Dist. 1993), the Third District Appellate Court of Illinois considered a situation where a mother who had lived in Illinois with her child for almost a year claimed that she met the 6-month requirement of the Illinois UCCJA. The Court found that the mother's stay with the child in Illinois had been temporary and that

California remained the home state of the child. The Illinois appeals court stated that “‘temporary absence’ does not connote a particular length of time. Under appropriate circumstances, the term can apply to a period of many months.” *Id.* at 1124, citing *Lidonnici v. Davis*, 16 F.2d 532, 534 (D.C.Cir. 1926). Likewise, because of her repeated representations to Mr. Sullivan that she was planning to return to Illinois, Ms. Sullivan’s stay in Utah should be considered temporary, at least up to the time she filed her First Complaint in Utah. For this reason, even her Second Complaint did not establish home state jurisdiction under the UCCJEA, since it was filed four months after the First Complaint.

III Ms. Sullivan Took the Children From Illinois Under False Pretenses.

Under § 78-45c-208(1), the court is required to decline jurisdiction if the party asserting jurisdiction has engaged in unjustifiable conduct. In this case, Ms. Sullivan took the children with her to Idaho on the pretext of attending a family reunion. She repeatedly represented to Mr. Sullivan that she would be returning with the children to Illinois. Ms. Sullivan’s conduct was a factor in Mr. Sullivan’s delay in filing his action in Illinois, since he thought she would be returning with the children to Illinois. The court considered evidence in the pleadings and proffers made by Ms. Sullivan, which is marshaled as follows: Ms.

Sullivan made Mr. Sullivan aware of her location in Utah and did not secrete the children (Record, p. 188, interior page 12, lines 9-11); Ms. Sullivan had allowed recent telephone contacts with the children (Record, p. 188, interior page 12, lines 3 through 8); Ms. Sullivan received cards from Mr. Sullivan's mother acknowledging receipt of cards from the children (Record, p. 188, interior page 11, lines 23-25 and page 12, lines 1-3); and Ms. Sullivan talked with Mr. Sullivan (Record p. 188, interior page 12, lines 11-12).

Despite this marshaled evidence, the trial court erred in finding that Ms. Sullivan did not act unjustifiably. She did not deny that she left Illinois with the children under false pretenses or that she repeatedly assured Mr. Sullivan that she planned to return to Illinois with the children. She should not be allowed to benefit from her misrepresentations, which were among the reasons Mr. Sullivan held off filing in Illinois. Ms. Sullivan's conduct was unjustifiable and the trial court should have declined jurisdiction for that reason.