2003

# Wendy Sullivan v. Mark Allen Sullivan : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The trial court properly dismissed Wendy Sullivan's First Complaint and allowed her to proceed with her Second Complaint. Wendy Sullivan's Second Complaint alleges additional claims against Mark Sullivan in that Utah is now the home state of the children and Mark failed to file a child custody proceeding in Illinois.

Mark Sullivan failed to invoke the jurisdiction of the State of Illinois to determine the custody of the children by not filing a child custody proceeding within six (6) months of the children moving to Utah in June, 2002.

By the time Mark Sullivan finally filed for custody in the State of Illinois on April 7, 2003, he knew (a) it had been more than six months since his wife had notified him of her intent to remain in Utah; (b) the children had been living with his wife in the State of Utah in excess of six months; and (c) more importantly, that a proceeding for child custody was pending in the

State of Utah.

Utah Code Annotated, §78-45c-206(1) as well as UCCJEA adopted by the State of Illinois, precludes Illinois from exercising jurisdiction because at the time of the commencement of the Illinois proceeding filed on April 7, 2003, a proceeding concerning custody of the children had been previously filed on January 28, 2003 in the State of Utah in a court having jurisdiction substantially in conformity with the UCCJEA and because Utah was the home state of the children.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DISMISSING WENDY SULLIVAN'S FIRST COMPLAINT AND IN ALLOWING HER TO PROCEED WITH HER SECOND COMPLAINT**

Wendy Sullivan filed her First Complaint for divorce and for custody of the children in Utah on September 26, 2002. Under the First Complaint it is clear Utah did not have jurisdiction to determine custody under the UCCJEA because the children had not resided in the state of Utah for at least six (6) months prior to the commencement of the action. §78-45c-201(1) U.C.A.

On the other hand, it is clear under the Second Complaint Utah does have jurisdiction to determine custody. Under the UCCJEA, Utah has become the home state of the children. Wendy, in her Second Complaint, alleged Utah was the home state of the children and that no child custody proceedings had been filed in Illinois, Record at pg. 2.

Pursuant to Rule 41(a)(2), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Wendy Sullivan, moved the trial court to dismiss her First Complaint. Record, p. 236. Mark Sullivan had filed an Answer but no counterclaim. Record, p. 223. In his Answer filed December 27, 2002, Mark asked the First Complaint be dismissed and that all custody proceedings be referred to Illinois. However, by December 27, 2002, Mark had not filed any child custody proceeding in Illinois permitting an Illinois court to invoke jurisdiction. The trial court granted Wendy Sullivan's motion to dismiss her First Complaint as Mark Sullivan had only answered and had not filed a counterclaim.

Wendy Sullivan's Second Complaint alleges additional claims against Mark Sullivan not found in the First Complaint as more than six months had elapsed since the children had resided in Utah with their mother and Mark had failed to file a child custody proceeding in Illinois.

Under Mark's interpretation of the UCCJEA, Wendy would be forever time barred from filing for custody in Utah because her First Complaint was filed within six months of relocating to Utah with the children. Because more than six months had elapsed since Wendy moved to Utah and Mark had failed to invoke the jurisdiction of Illinois Wendy was entitled to file a Second Complaint to assert additional rights given to her under the UCCJEA. However, Mark should only be given six months from when Wendy and the children moved to Utah to protect his rights under the UCCJEA.

**A. UTAH HAS JURISDICTION UNDER THE UCCJEA.**

Utah is the proper state to assert jurisdiction concerning custody of the children in this

case pursuant to §78-45c-206(1) U.C.A. Illinois should be prohibited from exercising jurisdiction concerning custody because a child custody proceeding had already been commenced by Wendy Sullivan on January 28, 2003 after the children had resided with her for more than six months in the State of Utah. Mark filed a Petition for Child Custody on April 7, 2003 in Illinois and referred only to the First Complaint filed by Wendy on September 26, 2002 and failed to advise the Illinois Court of the Second Complaint filed on January 28, 2003 contrary to the requirements of §78-45c-209(1). Specifically Mark failed to advise the Illinois Court in his Petition filed on April 7, 2003 of Wendy's Second Complaint filed on January 28, 2003 and that Mark had been served with the Second Complaint on March 19, 2003. Record, p. 112. This important fact was clarified with the Illinois Court during the telephone conference between Judge Hansen and Judge Vaughn on January 8, 2004.

Utah Code Annotated, §78-45c-206 concerned with simultaneous proceedings, states:

- (1) Except as otherwise provided in §78-45c-204, a court of this state may not exercise its jurisdiction under this chapter if at the time of the commencement of the proceeding a proceeding concerning the custody of the child had been previously commenced in a court of another state having jurisdiction substantially in conformity with this chapter, unless the proceeding has been terminated or is stayed by the court of the other state because a court of this state is a more convenient forum under §78-45c-207.
- (2) Except as otherwise provided in §78-45c-204, a court of this state, before hearing a child custody proceeding shall examine the court documents and other information supplied



by the parties pursuant to §78-45c-209. If the court determines that a child custody proceeding was previously commenced in a court in another state having jurisdiction substantially in accordance with this chapter, the court of this state shall stay its proceeding and communicate with the court of the other state. If the court of the state having jurisdiction substantially in accordance with this chapter does not determine that the court of this state is a more appropriate forum, the court of this state shall dismiss the proceeding.

(3) In a proceeding to modify a child custody determination, a court of this state shall determine whether a proceeding to enforce the determination has been commenced in another state. If a proceeding to enforce a child custody determination has been commenced in another state, the court may:

(a) stay the proceeding for modification pending the entry of an order of a court of the other state enforcing, staying, denying, or dismissing the proceeding for enforcement;

(b) enjoin the parties from continuing with the proceeding for enforcement; or

(c) proceed with the modification under conditions it considers appropriate;

Wendy having filed a child custody proceeding in Utah on January 28, 2003 after residing in Utah with the children for more than six months and serving Mark with the Second Complaint before he filed in Illinois should prevent the State of Illinois from exercising jurisdiction pursuant to §206 of the UCCJEA.

**B. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED NOT TO CONSOLIDATE THE TWO DIVORCE CASES AND DISMISSED THE INITIAL CASE.**

The trial court correctly ruled it would not consolidate the two cases and properly granted

Ms. Sullivan's Motion to Dismiss her First Complaint. The First and Second Complaint should not be consolidated because they involve a different interpretation and application of the UCCJEA.

Under the First Complaint, Utah would not have jurisdiction to determine custody as it was not the home state of the children. However, it is clear under the Second Complaint, Utah has jurisdiction to determine custody as it has become the home state of the children and also because Mark Sullivan had failed to file in Illinois invoking the jurisdiction of the Illinois Court.

Mark argues for consolidation of the two cases but cites no authority prohibiting Wendy Sullivan from filing a second proceeding in Utah especially when by the lapse of time Wendy acquires greater rights under the UCCJEA. Consolidation is not a proper remedy if it violates statutory provisions or would be prejudicial to a party. See Raggenbuck vs. Suhrmann, 7 Utah 2d 327, 325 P.2d 258 (1958). In this case consolidating the two cases would violate statutory interpretation of the UCCJEA and be prejudicial to Wendy Sullivan regarding which state has jurisdiction to determine custody as between the filing of the First Complaint and the Second Complaint. Consolidation would be improper and prejudicial to Wendy Sullivan because there is a distinct difference in application of the UCCJEA in determining jurisdiction. Severance is within the sound discretion of the trial court and absence abuse of such discretion will not be upset on appeal. King vs. Barron, 770 P.2d 975 (Utah 1988).

## **II MARK SULLIVAN DID NOT FILE HIS CUSTODY ACTION IN A TIMELY MANNER**

Mark Sullivan filed a Petition for Child Custody on April 7, 2003 in Hamilton County, Illinois. Mark was served on March 19, 2003 with Wendy's Second Complaint. It is submitted that Mark only filed his action for custody on April 7, 2003 as he knew Utah would undoubtedly assume jurisdiction to determine custody unless he filed an action in the State of Illinois. Mark had demonstrated no interest in obtaining custody of the children until he was forced to choose between relinquishing custody or filing for custody in Illinois. It is further submitted Mark had failed to support his children in any respect after they moved to Utah and was content to maintain the status quo until he was served with the Second Complaint.

In this case, Mark forfeited any right he may have had under the UCCJEA that the State of Illinois be considered to have exclusive jurisdiction to determine custody of the children. Utah became the home state of the children on December 26, 2002, six months after Wendy moved to Utah because Mark failed to file a child custody proceeding in Illinois.

Was Mark prejudiced by Wendy filing a Second Complaint and moving to dismiss her First Complaint? No, just the opposite. The initial filing by Wendy gave notice to Mark of her intent to obtain a divorce and that she was seeking custody of the children. It gave Mark notice that he should do what he knew he must do if he wanted custody of his children; i.e., file for custody in Illinois before the six month period lapsed. Mark was not precluded from filing in Illinois after he was served with the First Complaint but he chose not to exercise his remedies under the UCCJEA adopted in Utah and Illinois.

**A. MARK SULLIVAN'S DELAY IN FILING IN ILLINOIS  
CONFERS JURISDICTION UPON UTAH.**

Mark's filing his Petition for Child Custody in Illinois on April 7, 2004 is untimely under §78-45c-206(1) concerned with simultaneous proceedings in different states. Illinois should be prohibited from exercising jurisdiction as there was a child custody proceeding already filed by Wendy in Utah on January 28, 2003.

In Osborne v. Adoption Center of Choice, 70 P.3rd 58, 68 (Utah 2003), a North Carolina father challenged the adoption of his son in adoption proceedings held in Utah. In this case, Supreme Court Justice Christine Durham discussed the UCCJEA and especially §78-45c-206 as to conflicts between North Carolina and Utah over the adoption proceeding.

Citing §78-45c-201(1) Justice Durham stated,

The UCCJEA gives a Utah Court jurisdiction to make an initial child custody determination only if (1) Utah is the child's home state on the date the proceeding begins, (2) a court of another state does not have jurisdiction or is not a more appropriate forum, (3) all other courts that might have jurisdiction under the proceeding provision have declined to exercise it, or (4) no state would otherwise have jurisdiction.

As to simultaneous proceedings involving child custody proceedings, Justice Durham elaborated:

The UCCJEA has a provision that explicitly governs a situation where two courts in different states have initiated potentially conflicting proceedings regarding a birth parent's parental rights and the custody of a child. See Utah Code Ann. §78-45c-206. See 70 P.3rd at 69.

In this case, Utah is the appropriate state to exercise child custody jurisdiction because (1) Utah is the home state of the children; (2) Illinois is no longer the home state because Mark Sullivan failed to file a child custody proceeding with six months of the children moving to Utah; (3) the children and Wendy Sullivan have a significant connection with the State of Utah; (4) there is substantial evidence in the state of Utah concerning the children's care, protection, training, and personal relationships; (5) Illinois has not asserted jurisdiction because of inconvenient forum or because of unjustifiable conduct; and (6) Wendy was the first to file after Utah became the home state.

Similarly in Gestl v. Frederick, 754 A.2d 1087, (Maryland 2000) the Maryland Court of Appeals held if a child custody proceeding is pending in another jurisdiction, a Maryland Court must usually decline to exercise its jurisdiction under the UCCJEA.

**B. WENDY SULLIVAN'S ABSENCE FROM ILLINOIS SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN INCLUDED IN CALCULATING THE SIX MONTH PERIOD OF RESIDENCE.**

Mark claims Wendy told him repeatedly that she was only visiting Utah temporarily and that she was planning to return with the children to Illinois. However, that allegation is not supported by reference to any reliable record. Mark's Statement of Facts refers to allegations set forth in his Answer, not to any sworn testimony. The only other reference cited by Mark was during proffer to the trial court at the August 7, 2003 hearing.

It should be noted that on page 1 of the Illinois Rule 23 Order, attached as an Addendum to Mark's brief, the Appellate Court of Illinois Fifth District recited that in June, 2002 Wendy took the children to Utah to visit her family, and according to Mark, she notified him on July 2,

2002 that she was not returning to Illinois, and intended to terminate the parties' marriage.

The record should reflect on August 7, 2003, hearing before District Judge Darwin C. Hansen, R at 188, p.13, and found on interior page 13, Wendy's counsel offered to have Wendy sworn and testify under what circumstances she left the state of Illinois, and about communication between she and Mark. Mark's counsel declined to have her testify even though Judge Hansen ruled he would leave it up to Mark's counsel to have her testify.

### **III. WENDY SULLIVAN DID NOT TAKE THE CHILDREN FROM ILLINOIS UNDER FALSE PRETENSES.**

One again, this issue raised by Mark should be stricken as Mark claims Wendy repeatedly represented to him she would be returning with the children to Illinois but there is no reference to any reliable record as to that alleged fact. Mark's Answer does not constitute a reliable record to support his self serving position.